NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE HOUSING SPC
TO BE HELD IN THE REMOTE VIDEO CONFERENCE
ON WEDNESDAY 14 OCTOBER 2020 AT 11.00 AM

WEBCASTING NOTICE
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018,
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained
in accordance with the legislation.
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100.

AGENDA
WEDNESDAY 14 OCTOBER 2020
PAGE
1

Minutes of meeting dated Wednesday 9th Sept and matters arising

2

Chairpersons Business
i)

3

3-6

Correspondence
No Correspondence Received

Working Group Reports
I.

Report from Public Housing Working Group

II. Report from Rental Model Review Working Group

i)

Report from Public Housing Working Group

7 - 18

ii)

Report from Rental Model Review Working Group

19 - 32

4

Compact City Housing Presentation - RIAI

33 - 48

5

Housing Strategy for New City Development Plan

49 - 64

Presentation

6

Lord Mayor's Taskforce on Housing & Homelessness

7

AOB
Next Meeting currently scheduled for Wednesday 11th November

HOUSING STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING
WEDNESDAY 9TH SEPTEMBER 2020
ATTENDANCE
COUNCILLORS

EXTERNAL MEMBERS

Mary Callaghan

Pat Greene – DSC

Hazel Chu

Karen Murphy - ICSH

Donna Cooney

Claire McManus - JFOC

Kevin Donoghue

Mick O’Reilly - ICTU

Daithi Doolan

Mike Allen - FI

Pat Dunne

Aine Wellard - VVI

Anthony Flynn
James Geoghegan
Alison Gilliland - Chairperson

Dublin City Council Officials

Briege MacOscar

Brendan Kenny, Assistant Chief Executive

Tina MacVeigh

David Dinnigan, Executive Manager

Críona Ní Dhálaigh

Mary Hayes, Executive Manager

Cieran Perry

Mary Flynn, Deputy Director DRHE

Colm O’ Rourke

Bob Jordan National Director of Housing First

Catherine Stocker
Christy McLoughlin, Administrator
Other Councillors in attendance

John Lyons
Patricia Roe

Apologies
Liam Kelly - WRA

Page 3

1. Minutes of meeting dated Wednesday 29th July 2020 and matters arising
Agreed: Minutes agreed
2. Chairperson’s Business:
i.

Working Groups

The Chairperson, Cllr. Alison Gilliland, updated members with regard to the Public Housing,
Rent Review and Older person Working Groups
ii.

Correspondence

There was no correspondence
3. Housing Management Update
i.

Report on Homelessness

ii.

Report on review of Day Services for People Who are Homeless in Dublin (Kelleher
and Norris 2020)

Members noted both reports and a presentation on Day Services by Bob Jordan, National
Director of Housing First
The following considerations were raised:











Non-inclusion of service users in the review
How homeless individuals suffering addiction can be best supported across
homeless services including in the accommodation provided, mental health supports
and specialised medical treatment for addiction
Consistency and communication across day services
Gaps and duplication in the provision of day services
Tendering processes, value for money, funding, resourcing and financing services
Food provision, standards and food poverty
Communication, collaboration and consultationwith stakeholders
Neighbourhood management
Need for extra accommodation and challenge of opposition to services within local
communities
Devising a strategic vision and action plan for homeless services across the three
pillars of Prevention, Protection and Progression to include
o 24 hour wrap around day/evening/night services
o individual/family hands on case management approach
o joined -up multiagency and cross government department approach
Agreed: Day & Evening Services Implementation plan to be brought to a future
Housing SPC

4. Lord Mayor’s Taskforce on Housing and Homelessness
The Lord Mayor detailed her aspiration for the Lord Mayor’s Taskforce on Housing and
Homelessness. Members for the Taskforce are drawn from all groupings on Dublin City
Council. It was noted that the first meeting will take place on Friday 11th September.
Agreed: members would be updated on the Taskforce progress at each SPC meeting

Page 4

3. Housing Management Update
iii.

Report on Housing Supply/Delivery

Members noted the Report on Housing Supply/Delivery from Brendan Kenny. The following
considerations were raised









Covid 19 impact on housing supply
Future presentations of local schemes to each Local Area Meeting
Supply and demand of housing – current waiting lists, exhaustion of current land
banks and strategy to meet future demands
Variety and cost of delivery strands and maximizing same
Mechanism of recording housing lost due to Part 5 Exemptions
Compact growth approach to development
Role of planning & fiscal policy to meeting demand
Voids framework, funding and void turnaround times
Agreed: Report Noted

iv.

Housing Need Assessment

Members noted a Housing Need Assessment Report by Mary Hayes, Executive Manager.
The following considerations were raised









HAP uptake
Lettings update
Rebalancing lettings across all bands
Homeless HAP
Need for specific accessibility/disability needs to be identified upon application to
housing list
HAP Transfer List
Alternative methods to gathering required housing need assessment information
including use of a more flexible system and the use of technology
Support from members to encourage households to return forms
Agreed: Report Noted

4.

AOB
Next Housing scheduled for Wednesday 14th October

Agreed: N/A

Cllr. Alison Gilliland
CHAIRPERSON

Page 5

Report of the Public Housing Working Group – Dublin City Council Public Housing Policy
October 2020
Background and Context
Brief and Remit of Group as agreed at SPC
The Working Group will follow up on the Symposium on Public Housing held in the Mansion House on 27th November
2019. It will:







Analyse the suggested definition of public housing as ‘high quality sustainable housing for all citizens regardless
of income that is rented from one’s local authority or its nominees (AHBs) so as to affordably and securely
provide for one’s particular housing needs’ as presented at the Symposium on Public Housing
Consider the feedback from the Symposium on Public Housing on the proposed definition for public housing
Consider key questions with regard to public housing tenure: rental, tenant purchase, affordable purchase
Consider key questions with regard to public housing income levels
Draw up a public housing policy paper for consideration by the Housing SPC and ultimately for agreement by
Dublin City Council

Reporting back to SPC: The Working Group will report back to the Housing SPC on a bimonthly basis over the course of
6 months, February to July 2020.
End Date of Working Group: July 2020*
No of Elected Members: A minimum of 5
No of External Members: A minimum of 2
* given the disruption caused by Covid19 restrictions the July 2020 end-date was not realisable.
Working Group Structure
Chairperson: Cllr. Alison Gilliland
Elected Representatives: Cllr. Pat Dunne, Cllr. Donna Cooney, Cllr. Hazel Chu, Cllr. Cieran Perry, Cllr. Mary Callaghan,
Cllr. Mary Fitzpatrick (subsequently elected to Seanad Eireann in April 2020), Cllr. Criona Ni Dhalaigh, and Cllr. Catherine
Stocker.
External Representatives: Mike Allen (Focus Ireland), Karen Murphy (Irish Council for Social Housing)
Dublin City Council Representatives: Dave Dinnigan, Bernie Roe, Darach O’Connor, Dymphna Farrell, Lorraine
Gaughran, Sandra McAleer, and James Nolan.
Format and Inputs
Five Public Housing Working Group meetings have been held to date and a summary of the themes covered and
emerging issues is captured below.
Session One
Date: 4th March 2020
Number in attendance: Twelve
Themes covered in session:



General discussion on proposed definition of public housing
Dublin City Council Tenant Purchase Scheme

Input given by: Lorraine Gaughran

Page | 1
Page 7

Session Two
Date: 7th May 2020
Number in attendance: Seventeen
Themes covered in session:





Four Stage Process
Cost Rental Model
AHB’s Approval and Funding Process
PPP Delivery Model

Inputs given by: Darach O’Connor, Sandra McAleer, Karen Murphy, James Nolan

Session Three
Date: 4th June 2020
Number in attendance: Fourteen
Theme covered in session: Land Development Agency – An introduction
Input given by: Phelim O’Neill, Head of Property LDA
Session Four
Date: 10th September 2020
Number in attendance: Twelve
Themes covered in session:



Part V (Policy and Procedures)
Discussion of Public Housing Draft Policy Document

Input given by: Lorraine Gaughran
Session Five
Date: 8th October 2020
Number in attendance:
Theme covered in session: Final discussion and sign off, Public Housing Policy Document
Input given by: Cllr. Alison Gilliland – overview of report

Defining public housing
The provision of social housing is governed by the Housing Acts 1966 – 2015 and associated housing regulations.
Legislation does not confer any statutory right to social housing but rather the right to apply for and be assessed for
social housing. Under Section 19 (1) of the Social Housing (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2009 local authorities may
provide, facilitate and manage the provision of social housing.
While the term public housing is frequently used in housing discussion there is no definition in legislation for the term
nor reference to its provision.
The key aim of the working group is to come to a consensus on a working Dublin City Council definition of public housing
that allows purposeful policy making and implementation.
The concept of public housing intimates both provision for the general public and by the public purse. The following
definition, discussed at the Symposium on Public Housing held in the Mansion House on 27th November 2019, was
central to the Working Group discussion on a definition:
‘high quality sustainable housing for all citizens regardless of income that is rented from one’s local authority or its
nominees (for example AHBs) so as to affordably and securely provide for one’s particular housing needs’
Page | 2
Page 8

Rental vs purchase
The suggested definition emphasises rental only therefore excluding the option for tenant purchase of a local
authority/state unit or making available state subsidised units for affordable purchase. A comprehensive presentation of
the current tenant purchase scheme was considered with the following issues discussed;






Loss of housing stock/state stock through the tenant purchase scheme
Contribution by tenant purchase scheme to the provision of tenure mix and possible income mix
Loss of control of unit once purchased - possible future use of units as private rental, including for
individuals/families on social housing lists
Purchased units can no longer be considered ‘public housing’ given their private property status
Lack of a significant uptake of the tenant purchase scheme (134 units in four years)

Following discussion and consideration the working group agreed that purchasing state provided or subsidised units
would not constitute public housing but rather that any public housing would be only be offered for rental.
Note: Following the meeting, the legal standing in relation to the suspension of the tenant purchase scheme was
clarified. It is not possible for an individual local authority to alter the terms of the scheme as it is covered under
legislation (Section 25 of the Housing Miscellaneous Act 2014).
Security of tenure
The working group acknowledged the security of tenure provided by Dublin City Council and Approved Housing Bodies
to their tenants and concurred that this would continue to be a key feature of a more inclusive public housing model. It
also acknowledged that some differences do exist between the DCC tenure rights and AHB tenure rights and that AHB
tenancies come under the remit of the Residential Tenancies Board as per The Residential tenancies (Amendment) Act
2015.
Affordability
While affordability is a subjective term, the working group acknowledged that the current differential rent model used
by both Dublin City Council and Approved Housing Bodies comprises affordability for tenants. The working group
recognised that the Rent Review Working Group has made a recommendation that the current DCC differential rent
model, based on a rent of 15%, should apply to more inclusive public housing model. However, the Working Group
acknowledged concerns regarding the financial viability of this rent level and the need to conduct a financial analysis to
ascertain whether it could be realised, particularly at scale.
While the working group was cognisant of the future ideal of opening such a model to all citizens regardless of income,
it concurred that a gradual transition to a fully inclusive public housing model would be required. The working group
also concurred that this transition would target, as an immediate imperative, middle income earners whose incomes are
above social housing thresholds and who are currently struggling to pay high market rents that are consuming a
significant proportion of their income.

Delivery of public housing
Dublin City Council currently has overall responsibility for a total of 71 social housing projects, these being at varying
stages of development and using a range of delivery mechanisms. Dublin City Council is also charged with piloting a cost
rental development and has identified four potential developments for further cost rental schemes and eleven
developments identified for affordable purchase homes (Report 223/2020).
A further 240 DCC flat complexes were audited to identify priority schemes for regeneration that would both enhance
the building/living standards of the complexes but also increase densities/additionality within the complexes.
Dublin City Council also acquire units through market acquisitions and Part V agreements.

Page | 3
Page 9

In addition to Dublin City Council housing delivery and acquisitions, DCC collaborates with AHBs to deliver social housing
to accommodate individuals and families on the DCC social housing waiting lists. All proposals by AHBs to build new
social housing developments within the DCC jurisdiction must be approved by DCC.
A snapshot of the current programme (2020) shows that Dublin City Council currently has
 1,311 homes under construction
 856 units at tender stage
 323 Acquisitions approved
 259 Part V units approved
 1,419 units at an advanced stage of design and planning
 2,845 units at a preliminary stage of planning or design
 1,005 units in negotiation for long term leasing
 1,931 units being progressed for Affordable Purchase homes
 2,025 potential units being progressed under the Cost Rental model

Our Shared Future
In Our Shared Future, the June 2020 programme for government, there is reference to an increased supply of public,
social and affordable homes by more than 50,000 units with an emphasis on new builds that puts affordability at the
heart of the housing system and tackles homelessness. The centrality of local authorities to delivering housing is
recognised in Our Shared Future and, among other priorities, the emphasis is on developing sustainable, mixed tenure
communities. The new housing strategies of local authorities, now being established under the policy objectives of the
National Planning Framework, will be relied upon as the key development planning mechanism for delivery of this new
affordable housing and sustainable communities.

Current DHPLG Schemes that facilitate the development of Social Housing
The Social Housing Capital Investment Programme (SHCIP) provides funding to local authorities for the provision of
social housing by means of construction and acquisition.
Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) provides essential funding to AHBs for the provision of accommodation for persons
with specific categories of housing need such as Homeless and Older Persons, People with Disabilities, Returning
Emigrants and Victims of Domestic Violence
Capital Advance Leasing Facility (CALF) offers financial support to Approved Housing Bodies (AHBs) in the form of a long
term loan to assist with the financing of the construction or acquisition of homes that will be provided for social housing
use. This loan facility can support up to 30% of the eligible capital cost of the project, where the homes will be provided
under long term lease arrangements to local authorities for social housing use. Funding is provided to AHBs through
Local Authorities. CALF approvals do not follow the same approval process as the SHCIP 4-Stage process. The
assessment process includes a full financial evaluation which is carried out in conjunction with the Housing Agency.
4-Stage Approval Process for social housing projects
The funding approval process for social housing projects supported by the Department under the SHCIP and CAS
schemes is in line with the Government’s Capital Works Management Framework (CWMF).
The approach means that local authorities forward design proposals and costings to the Department sequentially, as the
local authorities advance the projects through their own planning work.
The four stages are as follows:
 Stage 1 – Capital Appraisal to verify the business case and basic project suitability – this is a light presentation of
information and only indicative costs are required at this initial stage.


Stage 2 –Pre-planning outline design and cost check –following site investigations, this involves the level of
designs that are required for the Part 8 planning process and a completed QS cost plan; detailed tender
drawings and resulting costs are not needed at this stage until planning permission is obtained.
Page | 4
Page 10



Stage 3 – Pre-tender costs check – the more detailed designs and cost estimates have been prepared by the
local authority design team at this stage and a cost check submitted before going to tender. Unless there have
been changes to the design following Part 8/planning, or conditions to be met, the design is not reviewed.



Stage 4 – Tender approval from Department – the tenders have been received and assessed by the local
authority and approval is given to proceed to construction.

Target 59 week Programme
There is now a target of 59 weeks for advancing social housing capital-funded projects through design, planning and
approval; from stage 1 submission by the local authority, to contract award for the construction. It establishes target
turnaround times for the Department to carry out the review process and for the local authority to carry out the design
of the scheme, the planning process and the procurement of a builder.
The single-stage approval process
A revised single-stage approval process for social housing projects less than €6m has been implemented. The main
change from the previous single-stage approach is that in the event that the approved budget is not maintained, a
second application for a budget revision will be facilitated on receipt of tenders. This will be facilitated where certain
circumstances have caused the costs to rise – for example, tender inflation - and where such an adjustment will not
increase the overall budget requirement beyond the €6m level.

Current delivery models
The working group considered comprehensive presentations on the main delivery models employed by Dublin City
Council to improve the numbers and quality of DCC social housing stock. The group also received a presentation from
the Land Development Agency on its remit and potential collaboration with Dublin City Council. These presentations are
summarised below:

1. Public Private Partnership (PPP) Schemes
A number of sites are being developed over a number of areas, spread across different local authorities, under the
revised public private partnership scheme. A private sector company designs, builds, finances and maintains the social
housing homes on sites which are provided by the local authority. In return, the local authority receives payments from
the private sector company which are spread over 25 years. Financial penalties are imposed where agreed timeframe
targets are not met. As the model is ‘availability-based’, the private sector partner is responsible for ensuring that
homes are available for occupation. The local authority is responsible for allocating tenants. The private sector partner
provides maintenance and upkeep services for 25 years. After this time, the homes are returned to the local authority in
good condition, subject to reasonable wear and tear.
Dublin City Council is the lead authority and sponsoring agency for bundle 1 and bundle 3. There are bundle 1 schemes
currently under construction in Ayrfield (150 units) and Scribblestown (70 units). Sites in East Wall (60 – 90 units), Collins
Ave (80 – 100 units) and Shangan Road (80 – 100 units), have been designated as bundle 3 sites and the process of
procuring design consultants is now underway.

2. Cost Rental Model
A commitment to cost rental is part of the programme for Government 2016. It is supported by the Housing Agency, is
recommended by the National Economic and Social Council and broadly supported by housing experts as a form of
housing provision. By providing cost rental as a form of public housing catering for the middle-income groups, Ireland
would be following the footsteps of countries such as the Netherlands, Denmark or Austria where there is greater
equality in access to housing.

Cost Renting is defined by Kemeny as ‘all rental housing, irrespective of ownership, the rents of which cover only actual
incurred costs of a stock of dwellings’ (1992:34). The rent is based on the cost of acquisition of land, construction of
Page | 5
Page 11

housing, financing costs and the maintenance of the building. This rent is directly linked to these costs, and is not tied in
any way to prevalent market rents driven by market supply and demand forces in the area. In certain jurisdictions,
additional housing support payments are available for those whose housing payments would see their remaining
incomes after housing costs fall below a certain level. Therefore, the capital and current costs of finance, construction
and ongoing maintenance determine the level of rent per unit. This rent is directly linked to these costs, and is not tied
in any way to prevalent market rents driven by market supply and demand forces in the area. Once finances have been
paid off all rent can be invested into the development or reinvested into further developments.

BENEFITS OF COST RENTAL:
 Provides affordable housing to a greater cohort of population
 Increases state assets
 Contributes to moderating rents in the private rental sector
 Contributes to increasing social inclusion
 More attractive to funders - enables long term debt by spreading repayments over the operating life of the
development
 Allows reinvestment in further projects once the loan is paid
 Allows state owned lands to remain in public ownership
 Scalable
*With the absence of government policy or legislation in place, the cost rental model and criteria are not yet fixed.
In July 2020, Dun Laoghaire County Council and the Land Development Agency secured planning permission for the 597
homes in Shanganagh Castle in Shankhill. Currently this is Ireland’s largest proposed social and affordable scheme to
receive planning permission, with 306 of the units affordable cost rental.
Dublin City Council are in the process of developing the Emmet Road site (formerly St. Michael’s Estate) in Inchicore as a
Pilot Cost Rental Scheme. The development proposed for the main c.4.9 hectares’ site is predominantly residential in
nature comprising of a mix of 70% cost rental and 30% social housing units, supplemented and supported by community
facilities and a neighbourhood fronting a new civic space off Emmet Road.
In April 2019 Dublin City Council appointed an Urban Design Team led by DMOD Consultants to prepare a Development
Framework Plan (DFP) for the optimum model of redevelopment for the site. The DFP provides a ‘proof of concept’
proposal. The comprehensive DFP formed the basis for the brief for the tender process for the procurement of the
Architect led Integrated Design Team. In May 2020, Bucholz McEvoy were appointed as Architect lead for the design,
obtaining all statutory consents and delivery on site of a new sustainable neighbourhood of the highest quality.

While it is noted that the cost rental model offers rents that are below market rents, such rent levels would be out of
reach for some lower income earners and would equate to more than current social housing rent levels i.e. average of
15% of income. Therefore, to achieve an affordable rent on a cost rental model, a certain amount of rent subsidisation
or cross subsidisation within the development would be required.

3. Collaborative efforts with Approved Housing Bodies
The funding models under which the AHB’s operate are the Capital Assistance Scheme, CALF and Payment and
Availability Agreements (P&A). Their delivery streams include construction, turnkey, Part V, leasing, acquisitions and
vacant properties. The engagement with DCC varies according to the funding scheme. In general the steps are;






AHB seeks support from DCC including confirmation of demand in the location of the proposal
AHB works with DCC in submitting the proposal if they support it
CAS – 4 stage approval process
CALF and P&A – approval process through DHPLG and Housing Agency with funders on board
DCC administers the payments; is the contractual partner and provides nominations

Page | 6
Page 12

4. Renovation and Renewal of existing Housing Stock
Dublin City Council’s Bedsit Amalgamation Programme consists of the refurbishment and amalgamation of existing
bedsit units to bring them up to appropriate size standards, improve overall energy efficiency and extend the life of
existing housing blocks. The programme achieves this by reconfiguring two original bedsits into one new, larger unit.
Many of these bedsits were built in the 60’s and 70’s and were designed to house one person.
Dublin City Council has successfully completed the reconfiguration and redevelopment of over 280 bedsits to provide
140 completed high quality one-bed apartments with the work at St Bricin’s Park at Arbour Hill being the culmination of
the citywide bedsit amalgamation programme. Renovation has ensured residents remain in their communities in
comfortable, healthy and affordable homes. The standard of energy-efficient construction ensures these homes are
exceptionally comfortable, healthy and affordable to occupy. As well as providing energy efficient buildings, this
approach also avoids further embodied carbon by prolonging the life of existing housing stock.

5. Part V Delivery Model
The following is a summary of units that Dublin City Council has acquired through the Part V process since 2016.








2016 – 25 dwellings (all apartments)
2017 – 72 dwellings (56 apartments, 16 houses)
2018 – 78 dwellings (57 apartments, 21 houses)
2019- 201 dwellings(199 apartments, 2 houses)
2020- 135 dwellings (134 apartments, 1 house)
Due to Covid-19 delays, a further 68 units scheduled for Q4 2020 have been pushed back to Q1 2021
Projections to 2023 (based on planning permissions received) – 1,688

Section 96(3) sets out the 6 types of Part V agreements that may be made.
1. Transfer of land
2. Build and transfer of housing units (up to 10% of the units in the development).
3. Transfer of housing units on any other land in the functional area of the local authority
4. Leasing of housing units, either on the site or on any other land within the functional area
5. A combination of a transfer of land and one or more of the other options.
6. A combination of options not including a transfer of the ownership of land
Part V PROS
 Assists in the counteraction of undue segregation in housing between persons of different social backgrounds.
 Acquisition is based on Existing Use Value of land and Construction Costs Achieve an average of 20-40%
discount to Market Value.
 Built to an extremely high standard and is not identifiable as social housing
 Increases supply of social housing
 Construction sector to increase level of supply = more social units
 Cost ceilings for acquisitions does not apply when acquiring Part V units – must ensure value for money
Part V CONS
 Not LA lands – therefore negotiations define what units LA achieve – pepper-potting V contained blocks
 Dependent on private developers to build – delivery from Part V slow since 2016
 Not always suitable to LA needs/requirements/costs – LA may have to consider off-site compliance
The Working Group recognised that should the current legislation be changed to oblige private developments to make
available a greater proportion of units it would support greater social mix and inclusion. Such an increase could include
a specification for public rental for those in the middle-income bands.

6. Potential Land Development Agency/Dublin City Council Partnership approach
Page | 7
Page 13

To be constituted under the GENERAL SCHEME OF LAND DEVELOPMENT AGENCY BILL 2019, the Land Development
Agency is envisaged to be a state company with a mandate to deliver affordable homes throughout the country. Funded
to deliver affordable cost rental product at scale they work in partnership with local authorities with key roles for the
elected members and public stakeholders.
In the Dublin context the Land Development Agency are working on a proposal for St Teresa’s Gardens. The steps
involved are as follows;








DCC and LDA to agree a Project Charter and Governance structure for the project
LDA engage a design team to progress the scheme with a view to lodging this in early 2021
DCC and LDA to develop a comprehensive public consultation plan
Significant stakeholder engagement opportunities throughout the process
LDA would deliver the social units on a turnkey basis ensuring swift delivery
LDA would deliver cost rental units
LDA will assign all necessary resources to ensure early delivery of scheme design, procurement and delivery

7. Affordable Purchase Housing
Dublin City Council currently has three sites identified for Affordable Purchase Housing Schemes. There are two sites in
Ballymun (Balbutcher and Sillogue) and one site in Cherry Orchard. Tenders are just in for the appointment of a design
team to develop the sites through to planning and it is anticipated that we will get a yield of approximately 350 units
across the three sites.
The rationale behind Dublin City Council choosing to adopt such a model is;





Sites were selected on the basis of their being a perceived imbalance of social housing in an area already high on
the social deprivation index.
There is significant evidence of adverse anti-social behaviour in the adjoining estates to where we are proposing
to build affordable housing.
There has been an appetite for affordable units coming from the local community and the three schemes
underway have been broadly welcomed by residents there.
The governments Serviced Sites Fund offered Dublin City Council a unique opportunity to access direct
government funding for our three affordable sites. It is quite unlikely that in the absence of these funds that
these particular sites would have been developed due to the high infrastructure and some abnormal costs
associated with them.

8. Other delivery models referenced (not discussed in depth) over the course of the meetings







Housing Land Initiatives
Regeneration Strategy
Traditional Build contracts
Rapid and Volumetric Programme,
Leasing,
Acquisitions

Key considerations arising
The delivery model presentations provided an effective overview of the various models available to and employed by
DCC and allowed for discussion on the challenges, benefits and learnings regarding their use in practice.
The Working Group recognises that there are a significant number of delivery projects currently in train and agrees that
DCC endeavours to bring these to fruition, subject to the outcome of all appropriate planning and democratic processes.
However, recognising the need to grow DCC housing stock, the Working Group agrees that all schemes designated for
Page | 8
Page 14

affordable purchase that are not in train should be redesignated unless in exceptional circumstances and in consultation
with local Councillors.

The Working Group recognises that, while the cost rental model provides for a rent that can be below market rates, it
cannot universally be described as affordable rental as families/individuals on lower/middle incomes or those who retire
and experience a drop in their income may struggle to afford a cost rental unit. Therefore, to ensure affordability across
a cost rental model, a certain amount of rent subsidisation or cross subsidisation within the development would be
required. Consideration should be given to applying HAP to households to allow for affordability or alternatively an
element of cross subsidisation within the development itself where some units would be rented at levels above the cost
rental level and others below the cost rental level. It is noted that HAP is not available to those outside current social
housing income thresholds.
While the working group recognises the key issue of financing the capital investment required to deliver a viable new
public housing pilot, a number of projects and potential projects not yet formally assigned to a specific delivery model
could be considered for the delivery of a new public housing model.
The Working Group recognises the need to build sustainable communities not only with appropriately designed
residential units but that facilities and services that support the integration and needs of all residents are provided. The
Working Group noted that current DHPLG funding for housing projects does not include funding for community spaces.
The Working Group also recognises that while achieving a social/income mix contributes to a more sustainable
community it must not be an exercise of social engineering.

Realising a new model of public housing – key issues for resolution going forward
Financing
Including in any public housing model is support from the state and the public purse to provide for housing for its
citizens. Finances to cover build, maintenance and upkeep need careful consideration. At present social housing
schemes and cost rental schemes tend to be separate schemes given their differing financial models. Therefore


The role of the European Investment Bank (EIB) can play in any public housing model needs to be clarified,
particularly the potential to secure loans to run over an extended 40+ years at low (2%) interest rates.



The extent of the relationship between all in cost of land servicing/unit construction/communal spaces/car
parking/landscaping/management/maintenance and rent needs to be understood.



If differing financial models cannot be avoided, they must be used in a combined/integrated way to allow for an
inclusive public housing tenancy/income mix.

Possible financial scenarios that may be considered include:
1. The state shoulders the land servicing and building costs of public housing as an investment in the public good,
similar to the principle underpinning the provision of social housing, and the local authority sets a differential
rent that seeks to cover its estate management and maintenance.
2. The local authority designs and builds the scheme with borrowings with the EIB at favourable terms and interest
rate. This will still require significant state subsidy through for example the serviced sites fund.
3. The state secures a long-term loan on behalf of the local authority to cover all direct costs including the land
servicing, building and maintenance costs of public housing. The local authority sets a rent to allow the loan to
be repaid, similar to the cost rental calculation. The household pays a differential rent to the local authority and
the state subsidies the balance through a universal HAP scheme.

Income and income mix
To realise a new public housing model, it is acknowledged that a transition system with regard to extending the current
social housing income thresholds inclusively upwards needs to be put in place. A potential transition income bracket
Page | 9
Page 15

might be found in the income thresholds that apply to the Rebuilding Ireland Home loan Scheme i.e. an annual gross
income of not more than €50,000 for single individuals or not more than €75,000 combined as a household. However,
the Working Group acknowledged that an income cap on single individuals that is lower than that of a dual income
household may exclude single individuals given that the rent for a 1 bed unit may not be proportionately lower than
larger units.

Mixed income communities work better than singular low income communities. Income mix refers to the range of
earnings across tenancies in any development inclusive of those supported by the Department of Employment Affairs
and Social Protection, including those who are retired and in receipt of a pension, and those in full or part-time time
employment, those who care for their children or other family members and those who may be in full or part-time
education/training. Income mix also tends to support an age and life cycle mix as well as being more able to support
privately provided retail and leisure services. This mix therefore contributes to more sustainable communities.

A significant issue to be considered is transitioning to a public housing model and realising a sustainable income mix lies
in the drawing up of an appropriate Scheme of Allocations/Lettings. Considerations with regard to such a scheme
include the ratio of allocations from our current social housing waiting lists and from a new list of households from the
transition income bracket noted above. Unintended consequences need to be considered including those that might be
interpreted as social engineering.

Land availability
Dublin City Council is facing a serious land availability issue. At present DCC has 120 hectares of land zoned for
residential use. The majority of this land has housing plans attached to them will yield approximately 11,000 housing
units. It is therefore imperative that housing be maximised on all remaining land both in terms of developing sustainable
communities but also in terms of growing DCC housing stock. It is also an imperative that DCC develop an active land
management and acquisition role within the city so as to ensure it is in a provision to continuously grow its housing
stock.

A pilot public housing scheme
It is acknowledged that the concept of public housing as envisaged by the Working Groups needs to be road tested from
an economic perspective and a housing allocations perspective. This would allow any challenges to be resolved
particularly with regard to future ability to scale up so as to affect the rest of the market and to afford the concept a
better survival rate through multiple local elections and national governments.
Therefore, the Working Group recommends that a site be identified from among DCC sites that have not yet begun
planning/development work for a pilot public housing scheme and a public housing development team be established
within DCC to realise the scheme. The Emmet Road project will provide a useful indicator of how the model will be built
out and operate in an Irish context.

Summary
The Public Housing Working Group considered the concept of public housing and means of delivering such public
housing. It agreed that public housing be defined as ‘high quality sustainable housing for all citizens regardless of income
that is rented from one’s local authority or its nominees (AHBs) so as to affordably and securely provide for one’s
particular housing needs’. It recognised the importance of long-term housing security afforded by the current social
housing model and that this should be approach should underpin a public housing model. The Working Group also
recognised the recommendation of the Rent Review Working Group that the current social housing rent scheme i.e. a
rent reflecting 15% of the principal earner’s income plus €21 per week/per subsidiary earner, constitutes a benchmark
for affordable rent.

Page | 10
Page 16

The Working Group acknowledged that Dublin City Council is currently engaged in providing a variety of housing (social,
cost rental and affordable purchase) using a variety of vehicles of housing delivery, including collaborations with
Approved Housing Bodies. It recognised that interrupting any developments currently in train would cause significant
delays in much needed housing provision and possible financial costs and therefore it should be endeavoured to bring
these to fruition, subject to the outcome of all appropriate planning and democratic process. However, recognising the
need to grow DCC housing stock, the working Group agrees that all schemes designated for affordable purchase that are
not in train should be redesignated unless in exceptional circumstances and in consultation with local Councillors.

The Working Group recognised the considerable financial challenges that arise with regard to funding the public housing
model envisaged including on/off balance sheet considerations as well as national policy and financial
legislation/regulations at European levels. However, the need for a significant public investment in a viable financial
model that would realise an affordable, mixed income sustainable housing/community model is recognised. The
Working Group also recognised the need to pilot the agreed concept to ensure viability and scalability.

Recommendations
The Working Group therefore makes the following recommendations:
That Dublin City Council:
1. Agree the working definition of public housing as high quality sustainable housing for all citizens
regardless of income that is rented from one’s local authority or its nominees (AHBs) so as to affordably
and securely provide for one’s particular housing needs’.
2. Agree a public housing rent level that mirrors its current social housing rent agreements
3. Only in exceptional circumstances and in consultation with local councillors would a DCC site be
considered for affordable purchase
4. Engage with the Department to explore options regarding the suspension of the tenant purchase
scheme
5. Establish a public housing team within DCC to being work on developing a public housing pilot – the first
step would be to conduct a financial analysis of the proposed model
6. Draft a Public Housing Scheme of Lettings to afford a fair and balanced transition from the current social
housing scheme to a public housing scheme
7. Establish a land management and acquisition section within DCC to ensure land availability within DCC
to meet future public housing demands.
8. Engage with the Department to explore how additional public units could be acquired through the Part
V process
9. Provide quarterly updates on the implementation and realisation of these recommendations
*******************************

Page | 11
Page 17

Report of Housing Strategic Policy
Committee Working Group on Rental
Model and Rent Arrears

October 2020

0
Page 19

Contents
Brief and Remit of Group as agreed at SPC: .................................................................................................. 2
DCC Differential Rent Scheme Overview ..................................................................................................... 3
Differential Rent Scheme for new public housing model: .......................................................................... 4
Recommendations..................................................................................................................................... 5
Accessibility ................................................................................................................................................... 6
Arrears Prevention and Recovery ................................................................................................................ 7
Statistics and activity ................................................................................................................................. 7
Causes of Rent Arrears: ............................................................................................................................. 7
Statistics (Principal Earners/level of arrears/time in arrears) July 2020 ................................................... 8
Rent Arrears Recovery Procedure ............................................................................................................. 9
Arrears Management Measures.............................................................................................................. 10
Rent Recovery Payment Plans ................................................................................................................. 11
Recommendations................................................................................................................................... 11

1
Page 20

Brief and Remit of Group as agreed at SPC:
The Working Group will:
a) Analyse the current rent model as implemented by Dublin City Council
b) Consider the feedback from the Symposium on Public Housing on the discussion on rent models
c) Consider key elements of a future rent model that would accommodate a concept of public
housing that would include a broader range of income levels eg. BER rating, local
amenities/facilities, space/size, car parking spaces, go-car provision)
d) Consider the appropriate relationship between rent and housing maintenance
e) Consider how Dublin City Council could transition to a revised rent model
f) Draw up a revised public housing rent model for consideration by the Housing SPC and ultimately
for agreement by Dublin City Council

Following a discussion on rent arrears at the Finance SPC, the Working Group also incorporated a review
of rent arrears with a view to making recommendations on the prevention and recovery of rent arrears.
Any recommendations made with regard to a new rent model would be viewed as applicable to a
housing model with increased income eligibility to support the work of the Working Group on Public
Housing.

Working Group Members and Structure
Working Group Chairperson: Cllr Alison Gilliland
Members of the Working Group: Cllr Mary Callaghan, Cllr Donna Cooney, Cllr Pat Dunne, Cllr James
Geoghegan, Cllr. Criona Ni Dhalaigh (until her stepping down in September 2020), Cllr. Tina McVeigh,
Cllr. Cieran Perry, Claire McManus (RIAI), Karen Murphy (ICSH) and Aine Wellard (PPN); The Chairperson
of the Finance SPC, Cllr Seamus McGrattan, attended the Working Group meetings on rent arrears.
The work of the Working Group was supported by Tara Robertson (Housing Rents), Michael Clarke
(Housing Anti-Social Policy Unit) and Aisling Browne (Housing Allocations).
Working Group Meetings
The working group met on six occasions to date:







9th June 2020 (online)
19th June 2020 (online)
3rd July 2020 (online)
30th July 2020 (in City Hall)
4th September 2020 (online)
7th October 2020 (online)

To follow is the report and recommendations of the working group.
2
Page 21

DCC Differential Rent Scheme Overview
The weekly rent charge is determined in accordance with the 2019 Dublin City Council Differential Rent
Scheme which directly links the rent charged to household income. Rent is calculated at 15% of the
principal earner’s weekly assessable income, which exceeds €32.00 in the case of a ‘single person’ principal
earner and €64.00 in the case of a ‘couple’ principal earner (principal earner is the occupant with the
highest assessable income).
Subsidiary earners pay 15% of income which exceeds €32.00 (€64.00 in the case of a “couple”). Rent is
charged on a maximum of 4 subsidiary earners and the rent charge for each subsidiary earner is capped at
€21. There is a rent reduction of €1 per dependent child
The assessable income of either a principal earner or of a subsidiary earner will, in general, be that person’s
normal weekly wage and/or social welfare payment, net of income tax, P.R.S.I. and Universal Social Charge
(USC) payments (where applicable). Income from the following sources will be included in assessable
income:
-

Employment including self-employment,
Social insurance/social assistance payments and allowances,
Health Service Executive allowances, FAS training allowances,
Payments under the Community Employment Programme and
The Back to Work scheme and
Income from any pensions or other sources.

All regular income and payments in the nature of pay, including shift allowance, travel allowance, bonus,
commission and overtime will be included in assessable income. Pension Related Deductions,
Superannuation. Pension Fund payments or any other deduction apart from income tax, P.R.S.I. and
Universal Social Charge payments (where applicable) are not deductible from a person’s normal weekly
wage for the purposes of calculating rent.
Self-employed are assessed on an assumed net income – Taxi/Hackney Drivers and Non Trade/Other
businesses are assessed on €500, while Tradesmen are assessed on €560.

Income thresholds
At present income thresholds apply that take into consideration the family status of the household and
the number of children. These income thresholds range from €35,000 (single person) to €42,000 (3 adults
with 4 or more children)

Notification of Income Changes
Tenants must notify the City Council immediately of any changes in household income or in household
circumstances (e.g. changes in the number of occupants including newly born babies, changes in the
employment status of household members etc.).

3
Page 22

Various charges may apply which are specific to the property such as heating and boiler maintenance. A
€3 waste management charge per week applies to all flat complexes where there is a universal bin. The
charge also applies to part V properties.

Minimum and Maximum Rents:




The minimum weekly rent charge based on the Social Welfare payment of €203.00 is €25.65
There are 1,188 tenants on the minimum rent charge
There are no tenants on the maximum weekly rent charge of €423, relating to dwelling size as
per table below.

Dwelling Size
Bedsit (i.e. 1 room)
1 Bedroom (i.e. 2 rooms)
2 Bedroom (i.e. 3 rooms)
3 Bedroom (i.e. 4 rooms)
>3 Bedroom (i.e. > 4 rooms)

Maximum Weekly Rent
€257.00
€301.00
€313.00
€401.00
€423.00

The weekly average rent charge is €69.70 in a DCC property while the average weekly market rent in
Dublin for Q1 2020 was €433.75 (RTB Q1 2020 Rent Index). The current highest DCC weekly rent charge
is €265.87.

Differential Rent Scheme for new public housing model:
The current system was reviewed and the following elements discussed:





The average income levels of DCC tenants
The interaction between the principal earners and subsidiary earners and their respective rent
charges
The fairness of the differential rent scheme
How/If the current differential rent scheme could be applied/adapted to income levels above the
current income thresholds

It was agreed that first and foremost the current differential rent scheme was very fair and equitable. It
provided a secure long-term tenancy that charged a rent consistently proportionate to household
income levels. This is particularly pertinent where household income may fall due to unemployment or
retirement or where household members may leave the tenancy.
It was deemed unfair that an additional rent levy be applied for what might be considered advantageous
housing characteristics such as a high BER rating, extensive local amenities/community facilities, greater
floor space/size, provision of car parking spaces or go-car provision. It was recommended that DCC
should be more cognisant of tenants in lower BER rating tenancies that may suffer from fuel poverty.
At present capital costs for social housing are provided by central government through a variety of
financial schemes and partnerships while the cost rental model of housing proposes that rent levels are
4
Page 23

set in such a way as to meet both capital and maintenance costs over the loan term. The current
differential rent system applied to social housing tenants makes a significant contribution towards
housing maintenance.
The Working Group envisaged that any differential public housing rental income should at least meet all
housing management and maintenance costs including administrative and personnel costs but
acknowledged that by setting a public housing rent level at the similar rate to the current DCC
differential rental level so as to ensure universal proportionate affordability capital/loan costs for a
public housing model would need to be directly subsidised by the state or cross-subsidised by an
extended HAP system.
Income

% of occupants in
each income
bracket
Number of units/
tenancies
Rent pw for
single tenant
Rent pwPrincipal plus 1
subsidiary earner
Rent x 4 week
month for
principal earner
Rent x 4 week
month – Principal
plus 1 subsidiary
earner
Total income pa
per income
category based
on prinicipal
earner only
Total income pa
per income
category based
on principal
earner plus one
subsidiary earner

€10,556
(single
SW)
30%

€35,000

€45,000

€55,000

€65,000

€70,000

20%

20%

15%

10%

5%

60

40

40

30

20

10

€25.65

€96.16

€125

€153.85

€182.70

€197.12

€46.65

€117.16

€146

€174.85

€203.70

€218.12

€102.60

€384.64

€500

€615.40

€730.80

€788.48

€186.60

€468.64

€584

€696.40

€814.80

€872.48

€80,028

€200,012.80 €260,000 €240,006 €190,008 €102,502.40 Total income
pa: €1,072,556

€142,428 €243,692.80 €303,680 €272,766 €211,848 €113,422.40 Total income
pa: €1,287,837

Recommendations
The Working Group agreed the following recommendations for the adaptation of the current differential
rent scheme applicable to a new public housing model with increased income eligibility thresholds.
1.
2.
3.
4.

Rent charge will be 15% of principal earner income across all income levels
€21 maximum rent on subsidiary earners to remain
Maximum 4 subsidiary earners to remain
Abolish maximum rent levels
5
Page 24

Application of 15% on all income levels

The model above assumes a mix of incomes with the maximum income eligibility for a single applicant
to be €70,000 in a new public housing complex of 200 units. In the model 50% of tenants earn below
current social housing income thresholds while the remaining 50% of tenants earn incomes ranging from
€35,000 and €70,000.
A basic application of 15% on all principal income earners would result in the following average weekly
rent levels for the principal earner.

Accessibility
Dublin City Council’s Corporate Plan also commits to fulfilling its Public Sector Equality and Human Rights
Duty (Irish Human Rights and Equality Act, 2014, S42). Dublin City Council Rent section recognises its
obligation under equality and disability legislation to communicate in an appropriate and accessible way
with those tenants who have a disability. The working group acknowledged the need to review practice
through the lens of physical, mental and sensory disability to ensure tenants are not excluded from
communications regarding their tenancies including their rent.

Recommendations
In particular the working group recommends that









Disability awareness training to be continued among DCC Housing staff
Develop a mechanism to ascertain if tenants have additional needs to the usual methods of
communications.
Meet the needs of tenants who require alternative forms of communication, in particular the
offer of braille documentation, telephone/digital communication and large print options for
partially sighted tenants
All communication be reviewed from the perspective of language and a plain language
communication policy adopted to support tenants that may have literacy difficulties
An appropriate identification verification protocol be implemented that enables visually
impaired tenants to verify the identity of staff on house calls.
An appropriate communication protocol be put in place to allow tenants with speech
impairments to communicate effectively with DCC
A protocol for liaison between the DCC social welfare section and the rent section be developed
to support tenants with disabilities

6
Page 25

Arrears Prevention and Recovery
The working group analysed, in as far as statistics allowed, the relationship between income, length of
time in arrears and amount of rent in arrears, the general causes of rent arrears, the rent arrears
communication process and the rent recovery procedure.

Statistics and activity







Dublin City Council (DCC) has at present 24,700 rented tenancies
Approximately 67,000 people reside in these tenancies
The weekly average rent charge is €69.70 (€279 .00 per month)
The number of accounts with assumed incomes is 3788
The number of accounts with assumed incomes in arrears is 3077 – total amount of arrears on these
account €12,963,693
Net arrears as of 28th September 2020: €33,107,269.66

Activity in 2019





30,132 letters issued to Tenants for rent arrears
165 Tenancy Warnings issued
56 applications for Possession progressed to Legal Department for Court Hearing dates
4 Possession orders granted – one eviction

Activity in 2020





31 Tenancy Warnings were issued pre-Covid
1 eviction took place in May 2020
125 cases with Legal Department awaiting court date
28 cases which had court dates for November 2020 have been adjourned again due to Covid.
Currently prioritising cases to be heard this year.

Causes of Rent Arrears:


Rent arrears are often caused by under-declaration of income and non- payment or insufficient
payment of weekly rent charge.



All Tenants are required under the terms of their Tenancy Agreement to report any changes in
household income or composition in real time – failure to report changes in household
circumstances is a major contributor to arrears.



In order to pro-actively remind tenants to submit income details, accounts are reviewed at least
once every two years and Household details are sought. Non-return on Household details is a
major contributor to arrears.



In the interest of fairness and equity to the many tenants who inform us of changes to income
and to avoid the unintended consequence of rewarding/encouraging non-declaration of income,
it is DCC’s policy to apply retrospective debits where undeclared income comes to our attention
7
Page 26

Statistics (Principal Earners/level of arrears/time in arrears) July 2020










Current Rent Arrears: €36m
41% of Tenants have a clear rent account or are in credit
26% of Tenants in arrears owe less than 500 Euro.
15% of Tenants in arrears owe between 500 Euro and 2,000k.
14% of Tenants in arrears owe between 2,000k and 7,000k.
3% of Tenants in arrears owe between 7,000k and 11,000
2% of Tenants in arrears owe between 11,000k and 19,000k.
0.4% of Tenants in arrears owe between 19,000k and 27,000k.
0.1% of Tenants in arrears owe over 27,000k

Of those in arrears, over 40% were in agreements as of end December 2019.
Principal earner income bands

Income band – weekly earnings

Number of principal earners

€203.00 – €400.00

15,498

€400.00 – €600.00

6,961

€600.00 – €800.00

1,983

€800.00 – €1,000

291

€1,000+

34

Level of arrears in household income bands
Total income per
household

No. Of Tenancies

Amount owed in
Arrears

% of Total Arrears

€203 - €400

5046

€4,961,159.90

13.91%

€400 - €600

3395

€6,692,626.49

18.76%

€600 – €800

2507

€7,679,640.62

21.53%

€800 - €1000

16250

€5,743,639.03

16.10%

€1000 - €1500

1806

€7,899,607.68

22.15%

€1500 +

474

€2,681,178.72

7.51%

Totals

14853

35,657,852.44

100%

8
Page 27

Length of time in arrears
Number of Weeks in Arrears

Number of Accounts in Arrears

Arrears amounts

1–4

3,418

€410,012.04

4–6

1,103

€349,524.29

6 – 12

1,915

€1,196,961.11

12 – 24

2,139

€2,917,146.68

24 – 52

2,424

€7,425,839.27

52+

2,698

€22,019,644.34

Total

13,697

€34,319,127.73

Rent Arrears Recovery Procedure
Stage 1:
1st & 2nd Warning Letters
• 1st Warning letter issued after 3 weeks arrears.
• 2nd Warning letter issued after 5 weeks arrears.
Stage 2:

Broken Agreement/3rd warning letter

Stage 3:

Issuing of a Tenancy Warning

•

If the arrears are not paid in full or an agreement has not been made or has been broken, a
Tenancy Warning may be served.

•

There is a 10 day waiting period after the Tenancy Warning is issued to allow for tenants to appeal
the decision to issue the Tenancy Warning. The tenant must apply in writing to Dublin City Council
within 10 working days.

Stage 4:

Court Proceedings

•

Where the arrears are still increasing and no agreement has been entered into, a Possession
Application is prepared for Court.

•

The EHO will notify the tenant by letter that a Court hearing is being arranged.

•

Legal Department will issue notification to the tenant informing them that an application has been
made to the Court for a Possession Order.

•

Where a Possession Order is granted by the Court and where there is still no agreement to pay the
arrears, or an agreement has been broken, the case is referred to the Eviction Office.

•

The Eviction Office continues to engage with the tenant. If a satisfactory payment agreement is
not reached, the Eviction Office will proceed to recover the property.
9
Page 28

•

A constant informal process takes place concurrent to the formal process, with telephone calls
and house calls being key to engaging and understanding the individual circumstances of tenants.

Arrears Management Measures


The Arrears Management Section is staffed at present by 21 Executive Housing Officers (EHO) who
are each responsible for approx. 1,300 rent accounts.



Their job is to continuously monitor and manage the accounts and engage with the tenants at an
early stage of missed payments.



Every effort is made by the EHO to agree a realistic repayment plan with the Tenant.



Tenants are contacted by letter, by telephone or visit by the Executive Housing Officer (EHO).
Formal and informal engagement takes place.



Through early intervention accounts falling into arrears are identified as quickly as possible and
tenants are contacted to enter into an agreement so as to prevent arrears accruing.



Tenants are encouraged to pay via Direct Debit/Household Budget.



Tenants in arrears are advised that they can avail of professional financial advice through MABS,
who can also advise them of Debt Solutions-(Debt Relief Notices).



Quarterly Statements are issued to all tenants to keep them informed of their account balance.



Tenants will not have routine maintenance carried out if their account is in arrears unless they
have entered into and adhered to a repayment plan.



Tenants in arrears will not be granted a transfer unless they have a clear account. Previously, the
Scheme of Letting Priorities prevented tenants in arrears from making a transfer application, this
was a stronger measure than the current process, whereby the transfer application is accepted
and when the tenant reaches the top of the list they will not be granted a transfer until such time
as the arrears are cleared.



If any Sub-Tenant in the dwelling in question is seeking DCC accommodation in their own right
their application will be put on hold until the arrears are cleared or a satisfactory agreement for
repayment in place.



The Local Government Efficiency Review Group made a recommendation in 2010 that “Social
Housing Rents due to Local Authorities should be deducted directly from Social Welfare
Payments”. The Housing (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2014 contained a section which would
give Local Authorities the power to do this and also to collect rent arrears, however to date Section
53 of this Act has not been commenced.



Where a tenant is working there is no facility to secure deduction at source from an employer.
10
Page 29

Rent Recovery Payment Plans
At the end of December 2019, approximately 40% of all tenants in arrears had agreed to and were
adhering to a rent repayment plan. Approximately 14% of tenancies in arrears have a weekly household
income of below €400 per week while approximately 46% have a weekly household income of over €800
per week, therefore repayment plans range from an additional €10pw upwards depending on ability to
pay. While agreeing affordable repayment plans can result in long repayment periods, establishing a
regular pattern of weekly rent payment plus an agreed additional amount to reduce rent arrears is the
main objective of repayment plans and a key task for the Executive Housing Officers.

Recommendations
Following discussion and analysis the Working Group agreed the following recommendations


Seek the commencement of Section 53 of this Act to allow deduction at source from social
welfare and to establish a deduction at source facility from employers. With 66% of principal
earners on social welfare, and a similar profile among subsidiary earners deduction at source
would be the most effective tool in maximising rent collection and preventing arrears. Likewise,
seek a deduction at source facility to support those tenants in employment in paying their rent
charge, as is the case with the Local Property Tax. Such a facility would act as a preventative
approach to rent arrears. If the Minister refuses to commence this section of the Act DCC should
explore establishing a voluntary opt-in deduction at source system.



That an opt-in deduction at source system be developed and offered to tenants in PAYE
employment. This system would be targetted in the first instant at tenants in arrears who earn
more than €600 p/w.



Develop a simple training module for current tenants on their rent system and managing their
finances and make the module obligatory for all new tenants



Establish a more effective system of ascertaining changes in tenants’ income levels.



Consider an alternative treatment of rent arrears that arise due to undeclared increased income
that provides the option to raise the amount owed as a charge/projected debit to be paid over
the course of no more than two years (treat amount of liability as rental income due rather than
arrears.)



Inform tenants of alternative banking options other than large financial institutions in order to
facilitate greater uptake of direct debit facility.



Require all new tenants to pay rent charge by direct debit or, where possible, via the household
budget scheme

11
Page 30



Promote greater awareness of financial advice service of MABs to support households that may
be experiencing financial management difficulties



Provide informations regarding debt relief notices for tenants in arrears of under €20k. This is a
once off facility for tenants on low income, with few assets and debts of less than €20k to have
debts written off in full provided they adhere to certain conditions.



Apply the provision in the Scheme of Letting Priorities (section 2.7.2) which states that tenants
must have a clear rent account in order to seek a transfer. All new transfer applications with
arrears on the account will be paused until such time as the arrears are cleared. Tenants in
arrears, who have a transfer application already in the system, will be notified during January
2021 that with effect from 1st April 2021, those applications will be paused until such time as the
rent arrears are cleared. Managerial discretion in this regard to be exercised only in exceptional
circumstances such as welfare and medical circumstances.



Develop an early warning text alert system to advise of a debt arising after 1/2 missed payments.



Develop of an application for mobile phones to facilitate easier payment of rent and checking of
rent accounts and to facilitate communicating changes in income levels to DCC



Develop a communications plan for publicising the importance of paying rent/returning
Household Details/payment methods for rent/availability of financial advice through MABS



Develop a protocol for liason between the local estate manager and the local executive housing
officers to support tenants in arrears.



Develop a protocol for liason between the social welfare section and the rent section to support
vulnerable tenants in arrears



Take Court proceedings to seek Possession Orders for serious arrears cases where DCC is
satisfied that there are no circumstances outside the control of the household which prevent the
repayment of arrears.



The effectiveness and impact of these recommendations to reduce DCC rent arrears will be fully
evaluated after one year and a report made to a joint sitting of the Housing SPC and the Finance
SPC with a view to agreeing next steps. Such next steps could include commissioning an
independent external body with expertise in arrears management to support DCC in reviewing
arrears collection processes.

12
Page 31

Page 33

Urban Sprawl
to
Compact Growth
Making Cities Affordable
Presentation to DCC Housing Committee, October 2020

About me / the RIAI Housing Committee
Claire McManus
RIAI Housing Spokesperson
JFOC Architects – Private Practice specialising in housing

Page 34

RIAI Housing Committee
Architects working in housing across the public & private sector in Ireland
Brendan O’Sullivan is our DCC member. Committee members and the
organisations they represent are involved in approx. 50% of current Irish
housing deliver.
Architects are involved from Feasibility through to the Delivery of
housing as designers, project managers and planning consultants.
Typically, they act as the Design Team Lead and the Employers
Representative.
Your Logo or Name Here

2

2

Summary
We need affordable housing in the right locations.

Page 35

This means infill development in Irish cities, towns and suburbs as well as
making use of existing building stock such as ‘living over the shop’.
However, it is much cheaper to deliver houses in green fields than any
kind of infill development. The result is Irish towns and cities are not
affordable and first time buyers and families have no choice but to live
far from urban centres with the associated long commutes.
While delivery costs are higher, all other costs associated with infill
development are lower – environmental, infrastructure, community
services, schools, public transport
Government planning policy seeks to reduce Urban Sprawl, but taxation
policy is not aligned. A medium density development (5-6 storey
apartments with excellent public realm) attracts 5 times more tax than if
the site was developed for houses.
Taxation must be reviewed to take into account the holistic costs of
Urban Sprawl and promote infill development.

Your Logo or Name Here

3

3

What is Compact Growth?
Compact growth means building within existing cities and towns, instead of low density in green fields
- It does not mean smaller units
- It does not mean high rise

Page 36

Examples include:
- Small infill apartment schemes
- ‘living over the shop’
Your Logo or Name Here

4

Why Compact Growth?
Compact growth is the first goal of Ireland 2040 for good reasons
For People

• Shorter commutes and the
ability to walk or cycle to
work, school, etc.
Page 37

• Better public transport
facilities & amenities
• Potential for better
placemaking & stronger
communities
• Win-win potential where
existing (sometimes declining)
suburbs are made denser::
better urban realm, housing
mix, opportunity to down-size,
etc.

For the Environment

• Infill development has
minimal impact on the
environment compared
to Greenfield
development
• High quality agricultural
land is retained as such
• Green Infrastructure
(hedgerows and other
habitat) are retained
• Reduced dependency on
cars

For the State

• Makes use of existing
infrastructure such as
water, foul, drainage
• Makes use of existing
transportation such as
train, bus, roads, cycle
paths
• Makes use of existing
services, such as schools,
hospitals & community
facilities
• Upfront and ongoing tax
income is much higher
Your Logo or Name Here

5

The Affordability Gap

Page 38

SCSI’s 2017 publication The
Real Cost of New Apartment
Delivery – Analysis of
Affordability & Viability
estimates that the cost of
delivery of a new medium
rise apartment exceeds the
sales values by between
€82,000 and €137,500

Your Logo or Name Here

6

Why does Compact Growth cost more?
Site Costs

• Sites are generally
smaller offering less
economy of scale
Page 39

• Infill sites cost more to
develop than green field
sites for reasons such as:
- Existing buildings to be
demolished
- Adjacent buildings to be
underpinned
- Poor site access

Building Costs

• ‘Living over the Shop’ projects
are complex and hard to scale
• Apartments cost more to
develop than houses because
they require:
- More expensive materials e.g.
concrete floor structure
instead of timber
- Circulation space, up to 20% of
the area of an apartment block
is required for lifts and stairs
- Greater fire protection
measures
- Additional certification such as
Fire & Disability Access

Finance Costs

• Houses can be phased,
and each house can be
occupied as soon as it is
complete, whereas
typically a full block of
apartments must be
delivered prior to
occupation.
• Phasing has a significant
impact on the cost of
finance & risk.
• Compact Growth attracts
c.5 times more tax than
urban sprawl.
Your Logo or Name Here

7

Comparing Tax Income (under current fiscal rules)
A medium-density development attracts 5 times more tax than a low-density development, both upon sale and recurring.

Low Density Urban Sprawl

Medium Density Compact Growth

€350,000

€420,000

Number of units (per hectare)

35

150

Sales price ex. VAT per hectare

€12,250,000 p/ha

€63,000,000 p/ha

€1,457,048 p/ha

€7,493,392 p/ha

€107,930 p/ha

€555,066 p/ha

Total Taxes on Sale (VAT & SD)

€1,564,978 p/ha

€8,048,458 p/ha

5.14

Recurring tax (LTP) per annum

€22,050 p/ha

€113,400 p/ha

5.14

Average selling price per unit
Page 40

VAT 13.5%
Stamp duty payable by buyer 1%

Multiple

Your Logo or Name Here

8

Invest in a 0% VAT rate for AFFORDABLE Apartments
Recurring income will be higher and all other costs will be lower

Average selling price
VAT @0% for Apts, 13.5% for houses
Page 41

Stamp duty payable by buyer 1%
Effective Affordability Grant

Taxes on Sale (VAT & SD)
Recurring tax (LTP) per annum

Single Apartment

Per 1 Hectare Site (150 units)

Per 1 Hectare Urban Sprawl

€370,044

€55,506,608

€12,250,000

€0

€0

€1,457,048

€3,700

€555,066

€107,930

€41,630

€1,457,048

€0

€3,700

€555,066

€1,564,978

€666

€99,912

€22,050

This would allow an effective affordability grant of €41,630 per apartment. The grant should only be available where
apartments are sold for affordable prices.
Your Logo or Name Here

9

Costs to service Compact Growth is lower than Urban Sprawl
Study by the Smart Prosperity Institute, Canada

Page 42

Your Logo or Name Here

10

Urban Sprawl is not as cheap as you think !
Study by the Smart Prosperity Institute, Canada

Page 43

Your Logo or Name Here

11

Other Types of Compact Growth
Apartments are an essential component of Ireland’s compact growth strategy, but they are not the only solution
Living ‘Over the Shop’

Page 44

Medium Density Houses

‘Walk-up’ Apartments

• There are examples of
Medium Density Houses
in Ireland, such as in
Portobello, Dublin.

• Apartments where you
‘walk-up’ a stairs to your
front door are economical
and a standard solution in
the UK and Europe.

Converting the space over the
shop is not currently viable, as
evidenced by the vacant space
across Irish towns, cities and
villages.

• Examples include
Donnybrook Quarter in
London and the Malings in
Newcastle-upon-Tyne

Such development should be
encouraged as they bring
vibrancy into our urban realm
and provide much needed
housing in excellent locations.

• Terraced houses without
front gardens and with
modest rear gardens can
achieve medium
densities of approx. 40
dwellings per hectare
• These houses do not
comply with DCC Private
Open Space standards or
separation distances.

Note: the above-named
schemes do not comply with
DCC / Irish Building Regulation
standards

Incentives could work
alongside the Climate Action
Plan to retrofit 500,000 homes
Your Logo or Name Here

12

Portobello, Dublin
Page 45

The Malings, Newcastle Upon Tyne

Your Logo or Name Here

Baden Powell Close, London

13

Conclusion
The upfront delivery costs of Urban Sprawl are lower than Compact
Growth, but the holistic costs are much higher.

Page 46

A review of the fiscal policy with respect to apartments & ‘living over the
shop’ is needed, taking into consideration the goals set out in Ireland
2040, tax income per site area, costs to the state (e.g. infrastructure,
services, public transport), quality of life and environmental factors.
Proposed changes should only apply where homes are sold at affordable
rates.
Compact Growth only works hand-in-hand with excellent urban realm,
where the spaces between dwellings are designed to be attractive places
that connect people and communities

Your Logo or Name Here

14

Page 47

Q&A

Page 48

Q&A

HOUSING STRATEGY - ISSUES PAPER

Page 49

Dolphin House

Page 50

INTRODUCTION
Draft City Development Plan 2022 - 2028 Housing Strategy
Replacing and Updating 2016 - 2022 Strategy
Period 2022 - 2028
Work of the Housing SPC subgroup on Housing Delivery
Bunratty Road Development

Page 51

TENURE AND AFFORDABILITY
Mixed income schemes and mixed communities
Cost Rental
Affordable Purchase
All social
Bunratty Road Development

2020 PIPELINE FIGURES – SOCIAL HOUSING

Page 52

Under Construction 1269
At Tender Stage 856
Part V 259
Advanced Planning & Design 1408
Preliminary Planning & Design 2845
Affordable Purchase 1931
Cost Rental 2025

Bonham Street Development

Page 53

LAND SCARCITY
Densification of Regeneration Sites
Maximising Brownfield Sites
Problematic Open space/Back lands “SLOAP”
All Dublin / Regional Approach
Land Purchase Programme
Vacant Sites Register
Bonham Street Development

CONSTRUCTION COSTS

Page 54

Public Procurement Procedure
Tender Prices
Public Spending Codes
Leasing

Springvale Community Facility / Scout Hall

HOUSING LIST

Page 55

Springvale Development

RENTS
Sub Group Recommendations
Affordable Rents
Life Cycle Costs to maintain stock
Page 56

Springvale Development

COLLABORATION / PARTNERSHIPS
Flexible Solutions
Land Development Agency
Vacant Sites Register
PPP
Aggregating Sites
Page 57

Cork Street Development

PART V / ACQUISITIONS / TURNKEYS
Tenure mix
Pepper potting
Including 10 percent affordable scheme
Reliant on activity of private developments
Page 58

Cork & Chamber Streets Development

Page 59

SUPPLY & DELIVERY
New Delivery models
Phases of projects – time delays
In house efficiencies
Traveller accommodation
Specially adapted homes
Cornamona Development

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
Resistance to Social Housing
Legal Challenges
Consultation
Political Support
Page 60

Dominick Street

Page 61

DIFFERENT MODELS
AHBs
Funding Streams
Partnership /Collaboration (ODG)
Cost Rental & Affordable Schemes – Private Funding
Capacity in the Sector – nimble responses Hale, Fold, McVerry Trust
North King Street

COVID 19
Delays and Costs on Current Projects
Short term opportunities
Longer term implications

Page 62

St. Bricins

Page 63

EU FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES
LIHAF
URDF

St. Teresa’s Gardens

High Construction costs

Key Issues

How to achieve mixed income / mixed tenure
estates?
How much is too much Social Housing on one
scheme?

Page 64

Subsidies for Cost Rental Model – who pays & how
much?
Resistance to building of social housing in many
communities
Challenges in managing new developments
How to achieve high quality ‘place making’ with
current funding streams?

